### No. 44714-2 II

2013 SEP 19 FM 1:03 STATE OF GTAM

1LS

 $C^{\circ}$ 

BY

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

JON C. JAMES Petitioner,

V.

## EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT Respondent,

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COULT THURSTON COUNTY HONORABLE ERIC PRICE

## AMENDED/PERFECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jon C. James 630-S. 1<sup>st</sup> Rockford, WA 99030 (509) 703-2123

1 9/16/13

##

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### Assignment of Error No. 1

 The Respondents erred prohibiting "conditional benefits" pursuant to WAC 192-120-050.

#### Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 1

Whether or not the Respondents have jurisdiction and authority to delay weekly benefits when conditions of WAC 192-120-050(4) are met by Washington State claimant's?

Whether or no WAC 192-150-135(4); RCW 50.12.010; 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad?

#### Assignment of Error No. 2

2. The Respondents erred by conducting a WAC 296-126-226 meal and rest period investigation pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1).

## Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 2

Whether or not the Respondents have jurisdiction and authority to conduct investigations under any and all Washington State regulatory agencies individual civil and criminal laws and rules pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1)?

Whether or not WAC 192-150-135(1); RCW 50.12.010; 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad?

## Assignment of Error No. 3

3. The Respondents erred by granting a WAC 296-126-092(5) meal and rest period variance pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1).

#### **Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 3**

Whether or not Respondents have jurisdiction and authority after WAC 192-120-040 expert fact finding investigations to grant variances and/or immunity under any and all Washington State regulatory agencies individual civil and criminal laws and rules?

Whether or not WAC 192-150-135(1); RCW 50.12.010; RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad?

#### Assignment of Error No. 4

4. The Trial Court erred by not conducting a reasonable fact finding hearing to review the meal and rest period variance granted by the Respondents pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1)

#### **Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 4**

Whether or not the Trial Court's erroneous allegations it was not provided meal and rest period laws and rules or knowledge thereof requires a new fair and reasonable fact finding hearing?

Whether or not the Trial Court's miserable failure to acknowledge meal and rest period laws and rules intentionally, evaded making and/or adopting meal and rest period findings and conclusions?

Whether or not WAC 192-150-135(1), RCW 50.12.010; RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad?

#### Assignment of Error No. 5

5. The Respondents erred by amending the Trial Court's finding of facts and conclusions of law re-enforcing WAC 296-126-092(1-4) initial investigation and

consequential WAC 296-126-092(5) variance decision controlling case pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1)

### Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 5

Whether or not Respondents amending the finding of facts and conclusions of law intertwining WAC 296-126-092(1-5) after the Trial Court found and concluded it never was provided WAC 296-126-092(1-5) is misleading and vexatious?

Whether or not the Respondents final decision is support by the fact of the now known Agency Record?

Whether or not WAC 192-150-135(1), RCW 50.12.010; RCW 50.020.050(2)(b)(v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad?

## Assignment of Error No. 6

 The Respondents erred by not disclosing the only evidence used to make the initial WAC 296-126-092(1-5) variance decision pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1) governed by WAC 192-120-040.

## Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 6

Whether or not Respondents can withhold the only evidence relied upon up-until judicial proceeding are filed in the Superior Court?

Whether or not withholding evidence relied upon is adverse to the model rules of procedure and rules of evidence?

Whether or not the withholding of evidence is unconstitutional and overbroad? Whether or not the new evidence supports impeachment proceedings?

#### Assignment of Error No. 7

7. The Appellant court and all others err by not intertwining and considering:

- WAC 192-150-130(2)
- WAC 192-150-135(2)
- WAC 192-150-140(2)(c)(emphasis added)
- WAC 192-150-145(1)
- RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x)

#### Issues pertaining to Assignment of No. 7

Whether or not voluntarily quitting for unsafe/illegal changes in working conditions is nothing more than a difference between right and wrong tantamount to sincere moral beliefs that our current safety/legal labor standards actually work, protect and notify (emphasis added) Washington State employers of safe/legal labor standards upon being granted a business license, L&I certificate, Employment Security No. etc.?

Whether or not WAC 192-150-135(2) specifically, "could jeopardize safety or is contrary to other federal and state laws" is unconstitutionally overbroad, ambiguous.

Whether or not WAC 192-150-130(2) WAC 192-150-135(1 through 2), RCW 50.12.010; RCW 50.020.050(2)(b)(v through x) are unconstitutionally overbroad? Whether or not WAC 192-150-140(2)(c) specifically, not requiring employees to notify employers of right and wrong applies to unsafe/illegal working conditions orchestrated by actual employer collectively?

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 25, 2012 the Respondents filed the Certified Appeal Board Record (Agency Record) (CP-8) There was additional documentation that contained basic knowledge of all interested parties and the "expert fact finding" document that contained unknown statements by Employer, Mark Dringle (Dringle) to public officials alleging it was his employees discretion (emphasis added) when to take statutory rest periods. (CP-8)(Agency Record 169-171) The Superior Court refused to admit as evidence and consider Agency Record 169-171 after pre-trial motion hearing and reconsideration as well as at telephonic Bench Trial. (CP-31) (CP-36)

This timely appeal follows:

#### III. ARGUMENT

## A. The Respondents erred prohibiting "conditional benefits" pursuant to WAC 192-120-050

I, was entitled to "conditional" benefits mandated by law WAC 192-120-050 for the (4) weeks at issue yet, received none as the Respondents conducted L&I safety/lawful working condition investigations. The Respondents interpretation and application of WAC 192-120-050 is reviewable by this court de novo. *City of Redmond v Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.* 136 Wash.2d 33, 46, 959 P.2d 38, 46, 959 P.2d 1091 (1998).

The court is not bound by the Respondents interpretation of WAC 192-120-050 that inshort prohibits "conditional" benefits if claimants voluntarily quit or are terminated. The Respondent's practices and procedures substantially prejudiced my ability to seek and be available for safe/legal work, provide food, clothing, and shelter for myself up until l,

accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1)(d)(3)(c).

B. The Respondents erred by conducting a WAC 296-126-226 meal and rest period investigation pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1).

The Respondents went out of their way to investigate Washington State Labor and Industries (L&I) Standards of Labor laws and rules (Standards of Labor) for several weeks as the initial investigation state official contact. Standards of Labor civil and/or criminal investigations are the sole jurisdiction of L&I who also has police power authority to enforce investigative findings of facts and conclusions of law.

The Respondents had no jurisdiction to initiate a WAC 296-126-226 investigation that ultimately substantially prejudiced my ability to seek and be available for safe/legal work, provide food, clothing and shelter for myself up until I, accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1)(d)(3)(b through d)

C. The Respondents erred by granting a WAC 296-126-092(5) meal and rest period variance pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1).

After investigating L&I Standards of Labor, with no expertise the Respondents effectively granted a L&I Meal and Rest Period variance in-short finding landscaping is not continuous labor therefore, no scheduled rest periods were required. (CP-8) The only evidence relied upon at this WAC 192-120-050(1-5) due process procedural time was the documents that will become to be known as the Expert Fact Finding document that originates while, Respondent officials verbally interview employees, employers and witnesses.

The Respondents variance decision was supported by the unknown verbal employer evidence and L&I Standards of Labor raising questions of mixed fact and law reviewable by this court de novo. *Dermond*, 89 Wash App. at 132, 947 P.2d 1271

Anyone who has had landscaping done or seen crews installing sprinklers, trees (emphasis added) soil, sod, rock, etc. knows firsthand it is factually continuous employment not intermittent as initially decided by the Respondents moreover, the smokes and restroom opportunities intertwined by Respondents at this stage are a series of one minute periods and not rest periods as defined by the Standards of Labor laws.

The Respondents had no authority to broadly decide landscaping is not continuous employment this action continued to substantially prejudice my ability to seek and be available for safe/legal work, provide food, clothing and shelter for myself up until I, accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1)(d)(3)(b througn d)

D. The Trial Court erred by not conducting a reasonable fact finding hearing to review the meal and rest period variance granted by the Respondents pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1)

The first Trial Court tapes were erased immediately when my employer began to testify and the Expert Fact Finding document not disclosed to Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) and myself. The second Trial Court found and concluded it had no laws or rules requiring my employer to provide any rest periods scheduled or not scheduled, it also was not provided Expert fact Finding documents.

Facts could and were not properly before the only independent (emphasis added) credibility due process decision maker virtually skipping the scales of Justice offering two bites of the forbidden fruit to an employer who certainly was not going to correct unsafe/unlawful/immoral prohibitions of rest periods.

It is futile to argue witness credibility regarding the Standards of Labor Laws at his point because the ALJ, certainly did not. The Trial Court had the Standards of Labor Laws and Rules and relevant facts but, just did not want to decide first;

- continuous employment questions WAC 192-150-130(2); WAC 192-150-135(1); second
- employer witness Eric Meade (Meade) testimony on the final day of employment that only one task and one tool occurred from 6:45am – 12:00am "planting trees;" and
- Meade testimony before the final day of employment a meeting occurred because of me allegedly "disappearing" from "tasks."

The Trial Court had facts, laws and rules and simply avoided the substantive issue before it's jurisdiction and authority this action continued to substantially prejudice my ability to seek and be available for safe/legal work, provide food, clothing and shelter for myself up until I, accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1)(d)(3)(b through d)

E. The Respondents Appellant Court erred by amending the Trial Court's finding of facts and conclusions of law re-enforcing WAC 296-126-092(1-4) initial investigation and consequential WAC 296-126-092(5) variance decision controlling case pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1)

Simply assumed because, the ALJ avoided the meal rest period laws and rules like the plague the Respondents amend the ALJ's findings and conclusions right back to WAC 296-126-092(5) by finding times that I, changed tools and/or tasks was the time for my rest periods and that it occurred up to 5-times a day for as long as 15 minutes.

Mixed question of fact and law really no different than Arguments presented at C above. The Respondents truly make no sense whatsoever, as I, thought;

- my employer did not schedule rest periods; and
- Meade clearly and concisely testified he scheduled tool and task changes glean to my disciplinary meeting with him; and
- The Respondents have the undisclosed Expert Fact Finding document

The witness credibility fact finding process was effectively skipped all while the Expert Fact Finding document suppressed not to mention that first hearing tape erased demonstrating obvious reckless abuse of the judicial proceeding process.

The Respondent's Appellant Court had facts, laws and rules and recklessly amended the avoided the substantive issues before the ALJ's jurisdiction and authority this action continued to substantially prejudice my ability to seek and be available for safe/legal work, provide food, clothing and shelter for myself up until I, accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1)(d)(b through d)

F. The Respondents erred by not disclosing the only evidence used to make the initial WAC 296-126-092(1-5) variance decision pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1) governed by WAC 192-126-040.

Upon filing an application for Judicial Review then and only then the Expert Fact Finding document surfaced that had my employer initially stated:

• It was the employee "discretion" when to take rest periods

Employee discretion has nothing to do with the respondent Initial and Amended rest period decision strengthening obvious abuse of the judicial proceeding below. Bit by bit the Respondents actions substantially prejudice my ability to seek and be available for

safe/legal work, provide food, clothing and shelter for myself up until I, accepted unlawful employment. The court has authority to grant relief pursuant to RCW 34.05.570??????

- G. The Appellant court and all others err by not intertwining and considering:
  - WAC 192-150-130(2)
  - WAC 192-150-135(2)
  - WAC 192-150-140(2)(c)(emphasis added)
  - WAC 192-150-145(1)
  - RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x)

The initial actions by the Respondents turn this case upside down as they first ignore "conditional" payment laws and rules moving to L&I's Standards of Labor laws and rules harboring the employers unsafe/unlawful/immoral activities to be decided by an ALJ instead of internally.

Hindsight 20/20 reveals WAC 192-150-140(2)(c) is and should be applied to all safety and illegal activity claims as when I, notified Meade at are "disappearing" disciplinary meeting of rest period "safety" laws and rules the worksite relationships deteriorated glean to the meeting that followed again with Dringle that was basically a take it or leave it proposition not correcting rest period prohibitions.

- Employers are not required to notify employees of unsafe activities prior to termination:
- Employer are not required to notify employees of illegal activities prior to termination;

Nothing good comes from telling your actual employer she/he is orchestrating unsafe/illegal/immoral activities and for purposes of the Respondent's ACT laws and rules and resolution of relief requested it is requested injunctive orders mandate all further decisions made pursuant to the aforementioned intertwined WAC's encourage notifying actual employers of unsafe/illegal/immoral activities but, more than likely futile if employer activities are long time practices.

It's a simple matter of right and wrong pursuant to the Respondents Act and accordingly it was wrong for the Respondents to;

- Withhold "conditional" weekly benefits pursuant to WAC 192-120-050; then
- Investigate Standards of labor laws pursuant to WAC 192-150-135(1); then
- Grant Standards of labor law variances pursuant to WAC 296-126-092(5); then
- Amend Standard of labor law variances pursuant to WAC 296-126-092(5); then
- Disclose the only evidence they relied upon pursuant to WAC 192-120-050.

It was wrong for the Trial Court to;

• Not conduct fact finding and conclusions of law regarding the Respondents finding of facts and conclusions of WAC 296-126-092(5)

The Respondents have no business deciding L&I Standard of Labor Laws but, did requiring permanent injunctive relief overall determining it to be futile to notify your employer of their own unsafe/illegal/immoral activities. Laws are laws and rules and rules and current rest period laws and rules certainly do not support the Respondent's initial and amended finding of fact and conclusions of law.

Unlike, all other argument this argument substantially prejudices and saddlebags me into investigation the Respondent's actions, laws and rules spending countless hours amending and perfecting this Brief, not for monetary relief but, moral relief, to establish right and wrong for the Respondents to curtail any future abuse of those employees similarly situated debating whether or not they notified there employer properly of their own unsafe/illegal/immoral activities that more times than not are simple conditions of employment blackmailing all Washington employees into working in unsafe/illegal/immoral worksites from the Sound to the Palouse.

WAC 192-150-130(2) and WAC 192-150-135(2) notification provisos are unconstitutionally overreaching and certainly not tantamount to what a employer must do to achieve disqualifications pursuant to RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x).

#### CONCLUSION

For reasons set forth herein I, respectfully request the court grant individual relief and consider injunctive relief for all other Washington employees saddle bagged by the ambiguous, unconstitutionally overreaching WAC 192-150-130(2) and WAC 192-150-135(2); RCW 50.20.050(2)(b)(v through x)