I. INTRODUCTION

After working for Ace Landscaping for three weeks, Jon James

walked off his jobsite without saying a word to his supervisor or

employer. He claims that he quit due to illegal activities and unsafe

working conditions, but he did not report any such concerns to his

superiors. 

The Commissioner of the Employment Security Department

denied Mr. James unemployment benefits, properly concluding that he did

not have good cause to quit because he did not report illegal conduct or

safety hazards to his employer before quitting, as required to qualify for

benefits under the Employment Security Act. Because substantial

evidence supports the Commissioner' s findings of fact, and the

Commissioner' s conclusions of law are free from error, the Department

respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Commissioner' s decision. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. To qualify for unemployment benefits, an individual who quit his
job must have done so with good cause. RCW 50.20.050(2)( a). 

To have good cause to quit due to illegal workplace activities, a

claimant must have reported the illegal activities to his employer
before he quit. Did the Commissioner properly conclude that Mr. 
James was ineligible for unemployment benefits because, while he

believed that his employer illegally did not allow scheduled rest
periods, he said nothing to his employer before walking off his
worksite? 
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2. To have good cause to quit due to worksite safety deterioration, an
individual must have reported such deterioration to his employer

before he quit, and the employer must have failed to correct the

hazards within a reasonable period of time. Did the Commissioner

properly conclude that Mr. James was ineligible for unemployment
benefits when he did not notify his employer of any safety
concerns before he quit, and when the incidents that he later cited

during an administrative hearing were resolved before he quit? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After working as a general laborer for Ace Landscaping for three

weeks, Jon James walked off his worksite during his lunch break. 

Commissioner' s Record ( CR) at 38 -39, 135; Finding of Fact ( FF) 6. He

quit because he believed that his employer had violated the law by not

allowing him scheduled rest periods. CR at 43, 47 -48, 73, 135; FF 7. Mr. 

James' s job duties did not require continuous labor; his work required

frequent changing of tasks and tools. CR at 51 -52, 62 -63, 148. In a 10- 

hour workday, he had five 10- to 15- minute periods of downtime. Id. 

Before he quit, Mr. James did not notify his supervisor or

employer of his concern over the employer' s allegedly illegal practice of

not providing scheduled breaks. CR at 43 -44, 52, 55, 63 -64, 66 -67, 135, 

150; FF 8. He told some of his coworkers that he was quitting because he

wasn' t going to take anymore," but said nothing to his supervisor or

employer and made no effort to find an alternative to quitting. Id. 
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Mr. James also claims that he quit because of certain safety issues

on the worksite. CR at 41 -42, 45- 48, 73, 135; FF 7. Two of Mr. James' s

coworkers rode in the bucket of, a front loader on the worksite, and the

crew installed an incorrect valve in an irrigation system. CR at 45 -46, 56- 

57, 135; FF 7. The job superintendent reprimanded the employees who

rode in the front loader, and the employer installed the correct valve when

it learned of its error upon inspection. CR at 56 -57, 84, 135, 148; FF 9. 

Mr. James never reported these issues to his employer, and the issues were

resolved before he quit. Id. 

After he quit, Mr. James filed a claim for unemployment benefits, 

which the Employment Security Department denied on the grounds that

Mr. James quit without good cause. CR at 116 -19. Mr. James appealed, 

and, after a hearing in the Office of Administrative Hearings, an

Administrative Law Judge ( ALJ) issued an initial order affirming the

Department' s decision. CR at 134 -38. Mr. James then filed a petition for

review with the Department' s Commissioner, who issued a decision

adopting and augmenting the ALJ' s findings of fact and conclusions of

law. 

The ALJ and the Commissioner made express findings that the

employer' s testimony was more credible than that of Mr. James and

resolved conflicting testimony in the employer' s favor. CR at 135, 149; 
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FF 5. The Commissioner concluded that Mr. James did not have good

cause to quit his job because he failed to notify his employer of alleged

illegal activity before he quit, provide his employer a reasonable period of

time to address the activity before he quit, or prove that illegal activities in

fact took place. CR at 150. The Commissioner also determined that Mr. 

James did not notify his employer of unsafe working conditions and that

the conditions cited by Mr. James were remedied before he quit. 

The Commissioner denied Mr. James' s subsequent petition for

reconsideration. CR at 154 -159, 161. Mr. James appealed to Thurston

County Superior Court, which affirmed the Commissioner' s decision. He

now appeals to this Court. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Washington' s Administrative Procedure Act ( APA) governs

judicial review of a decision of the Employment Security Department' s

Commissioner concerning eligibility for unemployment benefits. RCW

34.05. 510; RCW 50.32. 120. When reviewing the Commissioner' s

decision here, this Court sits in the same position as the superior court and

applies the APA standards directly to the administrative record. Courtney

v. Emp' t Sec. Dept, 171 Wn. App. 655, 660, 287 P. 3d 596 ( 2012). The

Commissioner' s decision is prima facie correct. RCW 34. 05. 570( 1)( a); 

Anderson v. Emp' t Sec. Dep' t, 135 Wn. App. 887, 893, 146 P.3d 475
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2006). Mr. James has the burden of demonstrating the invalidity of the

Department' s decision. RCW 34.05. 570( 1)( a). The Court may grant

relief only if "it determines that a person seeking judicial relief has been

substantially prejudiced by the action complained o£" RCW

34.05. 570( 1)( d). 

The Court undertakes the limited task of reviewing the

Commissioner' s findings to determine, based solely on the evidence in the

administrative record, whether substantial evidence supports those

findings. RCW 34.05. 558; Wm. Dickson Co. v. Puget Sound Air Pollution

Control Agency, 81 Wn. App. 403, 411, 914 P. 2d 750 ( 1996). 

Unchallenged factual findings are verities on appeal. Tapper v. Emp' t Sec. 

Dep' t, 122 Wn.2d 397, 407, 858 P.2d 494 ( 1993). 

Evidence is substantial if it is " sufficient to persuade a rational, 

fair - minded person of the truth of the finding." In re Estate ofJones, 152

Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P. 3d 147 ( 2004). The reviewing court is to " view the

evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most

favorable to the party who prevailed" at the administrative proceeding

below and may not re -weigh evidence, witness credibility, or demeanor. 

Affordable Cabs, Inc. v. Dept ofEmp' t Sec., 124 Wn. App. 361, 367, 101

P. 3d 440 (2004); Wm. Dickson Co., 81 Wn. App. at 411; W Ports Transp., 

Inc. v. Emp' t Sec. Dep' t, 110 Wn. App. 440, 449, 41 P. 3d 510 ( 2002). 
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The Court then determines de novo whether the Commissioner

correctly applied the law to those factual findings. Tapper, 122 Wn.2d at

407. However, because the Department has expertise in interpreting and

applying unemployment benefits law, the Court should afford substantial

weight to the agency' s decision. Courtney, 171 Wn. App. at 660. The

appellant generally may not raise issues on appeal that he did not raise

below before the agency.
1

RCW 34.05. 554( 1). 

V. ARGUMENT

The Court should affirm the Commissioner' s decision denying Mr. 

James benefits because substantial evidence supports its finding of fact, 

and its conclusions of law are free from error. The Commissioner

properly concluded that Mr. James did not have good cause to quit his job

because he failed to satisfy the requirements of either the " illegal

activities" provision or the " worksite safety" provision of the good cause

statute. 

The legislature enacted the Employment Security Act to provide

compensation to individuals who are involuntarily unemployed " through

1 Mr. James raises issues for the first time on appeal in his brief that he did not
raise below. He argues that the Department should have paid him " conditional benefits" 

under WAC 192 -120 -050. He also asserts without explanation that several statutory and
regulatory provisions are " unconstitutionally overbroad." Per RCW 34. 05. 554( 1), Mr. 

James cannot raise these issues on appeal to this Court. The Court also should not

consider these issues because Mr. James presents them with "'[ p] assing treatment ... or

lack of reasoned argument [ that] is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. "' Holland

v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 ( 1998) ( internal citation
omitted). 
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no fault of their own." RCW 50.01. 010; Courtney, 171 Wn. App. at 660. 

As such, a person is ineligible to receive unemployment benefits if he " left

work voluntarily without good cause." RCW 50. 20.050(2)( a). 

An individual may establish good cause only by proving that he

quit for one of the .11 reasons provided by RCW 50.20.050( 2)( b). The

burden of establishing good cause to quit is on the benefits claimant; this

burden never shifts during the course of proceedings. Townsend v. Emp' t

Sec. Dep' t, 54 Wn.2d 532, 534, 341 P. 2d 877 ( 1959); In re Anderson, 39

Wn.2d 356, 365, 235 P. 2d 303 ( 1951). 

Mr. James argued below that he had good cause to quit his job

under the " illegal activities" and " worksite safety" provisions of the good

cause statute.
2

He failed to prove that he satisfied the requirements of

either provision. 

2 In his sixth assignment of error and elsewhere in his" brief, Mr. James argues
that the Department wrongfully did not disclose certain evidence. This was the subject of
a Motion for Temporary Stay, Remand and Sanctions that Mr. James filed in the superior
court proceeding below. Clerk' s Papers ( CP) 38 -58. The Department' s response to this
motion may be found at CP 61 -69. Mr. James objected to the inclusion in the certified

record filed with the superior court of certain Department records that were not admitted

as exhibits or considered by the ALJ. His motion focused on an account of a telephone
interview with Mr. James' s former employer titled " Expert Fact Finding." CR at 169 -71. 

Department staff conducted this interview to gather information before it issued an initial

determination of benefit eligibility. The ALJ did not admit or consider this document. 

Department records staff included the " Expert Fact Finding" and other records not

admitted by the ALJ in the certified record filed with the superior court as "[ e] vidence

received" by the Department, per RCW 34.05.476( 2)( d). The superior court judge denied

Mr. James' s motion, explaining that these documents properly were included in the
record but that the Court would not consider them because they were not admitted during
the hearing below. CP 86 -87. The " Expert Fact Finding" also was irrelevant because the
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A. Mr. James Did Not Have Good Cause to Quit Due to Illegal

Activities in His Worksite Because He Did Not Report Such

Alleged Illegal Activities to His Employer Before He Quit

One circumstance under which an individual may have good cause

to quit his job is where "[ t]he individual left work because of illegal

activities in the individual's worksite, the individual reported such

activities to the employer, and the employer failed to end such activities

within a reasonable period of time." RCW 50.20.050( 2)( b)( ix); see also

WAC 192 - 150 - 135( 2). An individual is not required to notify his

employer before quitting when the employer " is conducting the illegal

activity and notifying [ his] employer could jeopardize [ his] safety or is

contrary to other federal and state laws ( for example, whistleblower

protection laws)." WAC 192 - 150- 135( 2). Illegal activity may include

violations of either civil or criminal law. WAC 192- 150- 132( 1). 

An individual' s " employer" is his " supervisor, manager, or other

individual who could reasonably be expected to have authority to correct

the illegal activity at issue ...." WAC 192 - 150 - 135( 3). And "[ a] 

reasonable period' of time is the period a reasonably prudent person

would be expected to continue working in the presence of the activity at

issue." 

employer testified at the hearing to everything contained therein. This decision was

proper, and Mr. James offers no argument to show otherwise. 
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Mr. James has not shown good cause for quitting under this

provision because he did not report alleged illegal activities to his

employer as required. The employer testified, and the Commissioner

found, that Mr. James walked off the jobsite during his lunch break

without providing any notification or explanation to his supervisor or

employer of why he had chosen to quit. CR at 52, 55, 63 -64, 66 -67, 135, 

150; FF 8. He said nothing to his supervisor or employer about their

allegedly illegal failure to provide scheduled rest periods and had said

nothing about it previously. Id. 

These findings are supported by substantial evidence as they are

drawn directly from the testimony of Mr. James' s former supervisor, Eric

Meade, and his former employer, Mark Dringle. Id. The Administrative

Law Judge asked both individuals directly about whether Mr. James had

discussed breaks with them, and both testified unequivocally that he had

not. Id. Their testimony constitutes substantial evidence in that it is

sufficient to persuade a rational, fair - minded person of the truth of the

finding[ s]" that it supports. In re Estate ofJones, 152 Wn.2d at 8. 

In his brief, Mr. James does not appear to assert that he did report

alleged illegal activity to his employer. Even if he did make such an

assertion, the Commissioner made an express determination that the

testimony of Mr. Meade and Mr. Dringle was more credible than that of
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Mr. James. CR at 13.5, 149; FF 5. As noted above, this Court has stated

that it "will not substitute [ its] judgment for that of the agency regarding

witness credibility or the weight of evidence." Smith v. Emp' t Sec. Dept, 

155 Wn. App. 24, 35, 226 P.3d 263, 268 ( 2010) ( internal citations

omitted). 

The Commissioner properly found that Mr. James did not report

alleged illegal activity to his employer before he quit. Mr. James has

made no showing that doing so would have jeopardized his safety or been

contrary to federal or state laws. WAC 192 -150- 135( 2). Accordingly, 

Mr. James has failed to establish that he had good cause to quit under the

illegal activities" provision, RCW 50. 20.050( 2)( b)( ix). 

The Court has no need to reach the question of whether illegal

activity in fact occurred in the worksite. The law requires an individual to

report the activity to his employer before quitting. Without doing so, Mr. 

James cannot show good cause even if he proves that illegal activity in

fact took place.3

B. Mr. James Did Not Have Good Cause to Quit Due to

Deterioration of the Safety of His Worksite Because He Did
Not Report Such Deterioration to His Employer and the Cited

Safety Concerns Were Resolved Before He Quit

3 Mr. James argues throughout his brief that the Employment Security
Department is not authorized to determine whether his employer allowed him the proper

rest periods. Because Mr. James did not provide the required notice of illegal activity to
his employer, the Court likewise has no need to reach this question. 
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An individual has good cause to quit his job if his " worksite safety

deteriorated, the individual reported such safety deterioration to the

employer, and the employer failed to correct the hazards within a

reasonable period of time." RCW 50.20. 050(2)( b)( viii). Mr. James

argued below that he had good cause to quit because some of his

coworkers rode in the bucket of a front loader, and the crew installed an

incorrect valve in an irrigation system. CR at 45 -46, 56 -57, 135; FF 7. 

Mr. James failed to establish good cause under this provision as

well. The Commissioner found that he never reported these safety

concerns to his employer, and the issues were resolved before Mr. James

quit. CR at 56 -57, 84, 135, 148; FF 9. The job superintendent

reprimanded the coworkers who rode in the bucket of the front loader, and

the employer installed the correct valve when it learned of its error upon

inspection. Id. 

As above, these findings are supported by substantial evidence in

that they are based directly on the sworn testimony of Mr. James' s former

employer. Id. . The Commissioner determined that this testimony was

credible, a finding that cannot be disturbed on appeal. 

Mr. James did not report deterioration in worksite safety to his

employer before he quit, and the safety issues with which he was

concerned were in fact resolved before he quit. Accordingly, he did not
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have good cause to quit under the " worksite safety" provision of the good

cause statute, RCW 50.20.050( 2)( b)( viii). The Commissioner correctly

concluded that, without good cause, Mr. James was not entitled to receive

unemployment benefits. 

VI. CONCLUSION

Because Mr. James failed to establish that he had good cause for

quitting his job, the Department respectfully requests that this Court affirm

the Commissioner' s decision finding Mr. James ineligible for

unemployment benefits. 

2013